



IAVP/DC/5
ORIGINAL:English
DATE:December7,2000

WORLD INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ORGANIZATION

GENEVA

DIPLOMATICCONFERENCE ONTHEPROTECTIONOFAUDIOVISUALPERFORMANCES

Geneva, December 7 to 20,2000

RULESOFPROCEDURE

as adopted on December 7,2000, by the Diplomatic Conference

RULESOFPROCEDURE

Contents

CHAPTERI: OBJECTIVE, COMPETENCE, COMPOSITIONAND SECRETARIAT OF THE CONFERENCE

Rule1: Objective and Competence of the Conference

Rule2: CompositionoftheConference Rule3: SecretariatoftheConference

CHAPTERII: REPRESENTATION

Rule4: Delegations

Rule5: ObserverOrganizationsRule6: CredentialsandFullPowersRule7: LettersofAppointment

Rule8: PresentationofCredentials,etc. Rule9: Examinationo fCredentials,etc.

Rule10: ProvisionalParticipation

CHAPTERIII: COMMITTEESANDWORKINGGROUPS

Rule11: CredentialsCommittee

Rule12: MainCommitteesandTheirWorkingGroups

Rule13: DraftingCommittee Rule14: SteeringCommittee

CHAPTERIV: OFFICERS

Rule15: OfficersandtheirElection ;PrecedenceAmongVice -Presidents

Rule16: ActingPresident

Rule17: ReplacementofPresident VotebythePresidingOfficer

CHAPTERV: CONDUCTOFBUSINESS

Rule19: Quorum

Rule 20: General Powers of the Presiding Officer

Rule21: Speeches

Rule22: PrecedenceinReceivingtheFloor

Rule23: PointsofOrder Rule24: LimitonSpeeches

Rule25: ClosingofListofSpeakers

Rule26: AdjournmentorClosureofDebate

Rule27: SuspensionorAdjo urnmentoftheMeeting

Rule 28: Order of Procedural Motions ; Content of Interventions on Such Motions

Rule29: BasicProposal;ProposalsforAmendment Rule30: DecisionsontheCompetenceoftheConference

Rule31: WithdrawalofProceduralMotionsan dProposalsforAmendment

Rule32: ReconsiderationofMattersDecided

CHAPTERVI: VOTING

Rule33: RighttoVote

Rule34: RequiredMajorities

Rule35: RequirementofSeconding; MethodofVoting

Rule36: Conduct DuringVoting Rule37: DivisionofP roposals

Rule38: VotingonProposalsforAmendment

Rule 39: Voting on Proposals for Amendment on the Same Question

Rule40: EquallyDividedVotes

CHAPTERVII: LANGUAGESANDMINUTES

Rule41: LanguagesofOralInterventions

Rule42: SummaryMinutes

Rule43: LanguagesofDocumentsandSummaryMinutes

CHAPTERVIII: OPENANDCLOSEDMEETINGS

Rule44: MeetingsoftheConferenceandoftheMainCommittees Rule45: MeetingsofOtherCommitteesandofWorkingGroups

CHAPTERIX: OBSERVERDELEGATIONSA NDOBSERVERORGANIZATIONS

Rule46: StatusofObservers

CHAPTERX: AMENDMENTSTOTHERULESOFPROCEDURE

Rule47: PossibilityofAmendingtheRulesofProcedure

CHAPTERXI: FINALACT

Rule48: SigningoftheFinalAct

CHAPTERI :OBJECTIVE,COMPETENCE,COMPOSITIONAND SECRETARIATOFTHECONFERENCE

Rule1: Objective and Competence of the Conference

- (1) Theobjective of the Diplomatic Conference on the Protection of Audiovisual Performances (herein after referred to as "the Conference") is to negotiate and adopt the [Protocol to the WIPO Performances and Phonograms Treaty] [WIPO Treaty on Audiovisual Performances] (herein after referred to as "the Instrument").
 - (2) The Conference, meeting in Plenary, shall be competent to:
- $(i) \quad adopt the Rules of Procedure of the Conference (herein after referred to as ``these Rules'') and to make any amendments thereto;$
 - (ii) adopttheagendaoftheConference;
- (iii) decideoncredentials, full powers, letters or other documents presented in accordance with Rules 6,7 and 8 of these Rules;
 - (iv) adopttheInstrument;
- $(v) \quad a dopt any recommendation or resolution whose subject matter is germane to the Instrument; \\$
 - (vi) adoptanyagreedstatementstobeincludedintheRecordsoftheConference;
 - (vii) adoptanyfinalactoftheConference;
- $(viii) \qquad deal with all other matters referred to it by these Rules or appearing on its agenda. \\$

<u>Rule2</u>: <u>CompositionoftheConference</u>

- (1) TheConferenceshallconsistof:
- (i) delegations of the Statesmembers of the World Intellectual Property Organization (herein after referred to as "the Member Delegations"),
- $(ii) \qquad the special delegation of the European Community (herein after referred to as ``the Special Delegation"),$
- (iii) the delegations of Statesmembers of the United Nations other than the States members of the World Intellectual Property Organization invited to the Conference as observers (herein after referred to as "the Observer Delegations"), and
- (iv) representatives of intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations invited to the Conference as observers (herein after referred to as "the Observer Organizations").

- (2) References in these Rules of Procedure to Member Delegations shall be considered, except as otherwise provided (see Rules 11(2), 33 and 34), as references also to the Special Delegation.
- (3) References in these Rules of Procedure to "Delegations" shall be considered as reference stothethreekinds (Member, Special and Observer) of Delegations but not to Observer Organizations.

Rule3: SecretariatoftheConference

- (1) The Conference shall have a Secretaria to provided by the International Bureau of the World Intellectual Property Organization (herein after referred to as "the International Bureau" and "WIPO," respectively).
- (2) The Director General of WIPO and any of ficial of the International Bureau designated by the Director General of WIPO may participate in the discussions of the Conference, meeting in Plenary, as well as in any committee or working group thereof and may, at any time, make or allow with tenstatements, observations or suggestions to the Conference, meeting in Plenary, and any committee or working group thereof concerning any question under consideration.
- (3) The Director General of WIPOshall, from a mong the staff of the International Bureau, designate the Secretary of the Conference and a Secretary for each committee and for each working group.
 - (4) The Secretary of the Conference shall direct the staff required by the Conference.
- (5) The Secretariats hall provide for the receiving, translation, reproduction and distribution of the required documents, for the interpretation of or a linter ventions and for the performance of all othersecretariat work required for the Conference.
- (6) The Director General of WIPO shall be responsible for the custody and preservation in the archives of WIPO of all documents of the Conference. The International Bureau shall distribute the final documents of the Conference after the closing of the Conference.

CHAPTERII: REPRESENTATION

Rule4: <u>Delegations</u>

- (1) EachDeleg ationshallconsistofoneormoredelegatesandmayincludeadvisors.
- (2) EachDelegationshallhaveaHeadofDelegationandmayhaveaDeputyHeadof Delegation.

Rule5: ObserverOrganizations

An Observer Organization may be represented by one or more representatives.

Rule6: CredentialsandFullPowers

- (1) EachDelegationshallpresentcredentials.
- (2) FullpowersshallberequiredforsigningtheInstrument.Suchpowersmaybe includedinthecredentials.

Rule7: LettersofAppointment

The representatives of Observer Organizations shall presental etter or other document appointing them.

Rule8: PresentationofCredentials,etc.

The credentials and full powers referred to in Rule 6 and the letters or other documents referred to in Rule 7 shall be presented to the Secretary of the Conference, preferably not later than twenty-four hours after the opening of the Conference.

Rule9: Examination of Credentials, etc.

- (1) TheCredentialsCommitteereferredtoinRule 11shallexaminethecredentials, fullpowers,lettersorotherdocumentsreferredtoinRules 6and7,respectively,andshall reporttotheConference,meetinginPlenary.
- (2) The decision on whether a credential, full powers, letter or other document is in orders hall be made by the Conference, meeting in Plenary. Such decisions hall be made as soon as possible and in any case before the adoption of the Instrument.

Rule10: Provisional Participation

 $Pending a decision upon their credentials, letters or other documents of appointment, \\ Delegations and Observer Organizations shall be entitled to participate provisionally in the deliberations of the Conference as provided in these Rules.$

CHAPTERIII: COMMITTEESANDWORKINGGROUPS

Rule11: CredentialsCommittee

- (1) TheConferenceshallhave aCredentialsCommittee.
- (2) The Credentials Committee shall consist of seven Member Delegations elected by the Conference, meeting in Plenary, from a mong the Member Delegations, except that the Special Delegation shall not be eligible for member ship in the Credentials Committee.

Rule12: MainCommitteesandTheirWorkingGroups

- (1) The Conference shall have two Main Committees. Main Committee I shall be responsible for proposing for adoption by the Conference, meeting in Plenary, the substantive law provisions of the Instrument and any recommendation, resolution or agreed statement referred to in Rule <math>1(2)(v) and (vi). Main Committee II shall be responsible for proposing for adoption by the Conference, meeting in Plenary, any administrative and the final clauses of the Instrument.
 - (2) EachMainCommitteeshallconsistofalltheMemberDelegations.
- (3) EachMainCommitteemaycreateworkinggroups.Increatingaworkinggroup, theMainCommitteecreatingitshallspecifythetasksoftheWorkingGroup,decideonthe numberofthemembersoftheWorkingGroupandelectsuchmembersfromamongthe MemberDelegations.

Rule13: DraftingCommittee

- (1) The Conference shall have a Drafting Committee.
- (2) The Drafting Committee shall consist of 14 elected members and two *exofficio* members. The elected members shall be elected by the Conference, meeting in Plenary, from a mong the Member Delegations. The Presidents of the two Main Committees shall be the *exofficio* members.
- (3) The Drafting Committee shall prepared rafts and give advice on drafting as requested by either Main Committee. The Drafting Committee shall not alter the substance of the texts submitted to it. It shall coordinate and review the drafting of all texts submitted to it by the Main Committees, and it shall submit the texts so reviewed for final approval to the competent Main Committee.

Rule14: SteeringCommittee

- (1) The Conference shall have a Steering Committee.
- (2) The Steering Committee shall consist of the President and Vice-Pres idents of the Conference, the President of the Credentials Committee, the President softhe Main Committees and the President of the Drafting Committee. The meetings of the Steering Committee shall be presided over by the President of the Conference.
- (3) The Steering Committee shall meet from time to time to review the progress of the Conference and to make decisions for furthering such progress, including, in particular, decisions on the coordination of the meetings of the Plenary, the committees and the working groups.
- (4) The Steering Committee shall propose the text of any final act of the Conference (see Rule 1(2)(vii)), for adoption by the Conference, meeting in Plenary.

CHAPTERIV: OFFICERS

Rule15: OfficersandtheirElection ;PrecedenceAmongVice-Presidents

- (1) TheConferenceshallhaveaPresidentand10 Vice-Presidents.
- (2) The Credentials Committee, each of the two Main Committees and the Drafting Committee shall have a President and two Vice-Presidents.
 - (3) AnyWorkingGroupshallhave aPresidentandtwoVice -Presidents.
- (4) The Conference, meeting in Plenary, and presided overby the Director General of WIPO, shall electits President, and, then, presided overby its President shall electits Vice-Presidents and the officers of the Cr edentials Committee, the Main Committee sand the Drafting Committee.
- $(5) \quad The\ officers of a Working Group shall be elected by the Main Committee that establishes that Working Group.$
- (6) Precedenceamongthe Vice-Presidents of a given body (the Conference, the Credentials Committee, the two Main Committees, any Working Group, the Drafting Committee) shall be determined by the place occupied by the name of the State of each of the minthelist of Member Delegations established in the alphabetical order of the names of the States in French, beginning with the Member Delegation who senames hall have been drawn by lot by the President of the Conference. The Vice-President of a given body who has precedence over all the other Vice-Presidents of that body shall be called "the ranking" Vice-President of that body.

Rule16: ActingPresident

- (1) IfanyPresidentisabsentfromameeting,themeetingshallbepresidedover,as ActingPresident,bytherankingVice-Presidentofthatbody.
- (2) If all the officers of a body are absent from any meeting of the body concerned, that body shall elect an Acting President.

Rule17: ReplacementofPresident

If any President becomes unable to perform his orher functions for the remainder of the duration of the Conference, a new President shall be elected.

Rule18: VotebythePresidingOfficer

- (1) NoPresident, whether elected assuch or acting (herein after referred to as "the Presiding Officer"), shall take part invoting. Another member of his or her Delegation may vote for that Delegation.
- (2) WherethePresidingOfficeristheonlymemberofhisorherDelegation,heor shemayvote,butonlyinthelastplace.

CHAPTERV: CONDUCTOFBUSINESS

Rule19: Quorum

- (1) AquorumshallberequiredintheConference,meetinginPl enary;itshall, subjecttoparagraph (3),beconstitutedbyone-halfoftheMemberDelegationsrepresented at theConference.
- (2) AquorumshallberequiredforthemeetingsofeachCommittee(theCredentials Committee,thetwoMainCommittees,theDraftingCommitteeandtheSteeringCommittee) and anyworking group ; itshallbeconstituted by one-half of the members of the Committee or working group.
- (3) ThequorumatthetimeoftheadoptionoftheInstrumentbytheConference, meetinginPlenary,shallbeconstitutedbyonehalfoftheMemberDelegationswhose credentialswerefoundinorderbytheConferencemeetinginPlenary.

<u>Rule20</u>: <u>GeneralPowersofthePresidingOfficer</u>

- (1) InadditiontoexercisingthepowersconferreduponPresidingOffice rselsewhere bytheseRules,thePresidingOfficershalldeclaretheopeningandclosingofthemeetings, directthediscussions,accordtherighttospeak,putquestionstothevote,andannounce decisions.ThePresidingOfficershallruleonpointsoforderand,subjecttotheseRules, shallhavecompletecontroloftheproceedingsatanymeetingandoverthemaintenanceof orderthereat.
- (2) The Presiding Officer may propose to the body overwhich he or she presides the limitation of time to be allowed to each speaker, the limitation of the number of times each Delegation may speak on any question, the closure of the list of speakers or the closure of the debate. The Presiding Officer may also propose the suspension or the adjournment of the meeting, or the adjournment of the debate on the question under discussion. Such proposals of the Presiding Officer shall be considered as adopted unless immediately rejected.

Rule21: Speeches

- (1) Nopersonmayspeakwithouthavingpreviouslyobtainedthepermiss ionofthe PresidingOfficer.SubjecttoRules 22and23,thePresidingOfficershallcalluponpersonsin theorderinwhichtheyaskforthefloor.
- (2) The Presiding Officer may call a speaker to order if the remarks of the speaker are not relevant to the subject under discussion.

Rule22: PrecedenceinReceivingtheFloor

- (1) MemberDelegationsaskingfortheflooraregenerallygivenprecedenceover ObserverDelegationsaskingforthefloor,andMemberDelegationsandObserver DelegationsaregenerallygivenprecedenceoverObserverOrganizations.
- (2) The President of a Committee or working group may be given precedence during discussions relating to the work of the Committee or working group concerned.
- (3) The Director General of WIPO or his representative may be given precedence for making statements, observations or suggestions.

Rule23: PointsofOrder

- (1) Duringthediscussionofanymatter, any Member Delegation may rise to a point of order, and the point of orders hall be immediately decided by the Presiding Officer in accordance with these Rules. Any Member Delegation may appeal against the ruling of the Presiding Officer. The appeals hall be immediately put to the vote, and the Presiding Officer's ruling shall stand unless the appeal is approved.
- (2) The Member Delegation that has risent on a point of order under paragraph (1) may not speak on the substance of the matter under discussion.

Rule24: LimitonSpeeches

In any meeting, the Presiding Officer may decide to limit the time allowed speaker and the number of timeseach Delegation and Observer Organization may speak on any question. When the debate is limited and a Delegation or Observer Organization has used up its allotted time, the Presiding Officer shall call it to order without delay.

Rule25: ClosingofListofSpeakers

- (1) Duringthediscussionofanygivenquestion, the Presiding Officer may announce the list of participants who have asked for the floor and decide to close the list as to that question. The Presiding Officer may never the less accord the right of reply to any speaker if a speech, delivered after the list of speakers have been closed, make sit desirable.
- (2) AnydecisionmadebythePresidingOfficerunderparagraph (1)maybethe subjectofanappealunderRule 23.

Rule26: AdjournmentorClosureofDebate

Any Member Delegation may at any time move the adjournment or closure of the debate on the question under discussion, whether or not any other participant has asked for the floor. In addition to the proposer of the motion to adjourn or close the debate, per mission to speak on that motions hall be given only to one Member Delegations econding and two Member Delegations opposing it, after which the motions hall immediately be put to the vote. The Presiding Officer may limit the time allowed to speakers under this Rule.

Rule27: SuspensionorAdjournmentoftheMeeting

During the discussion of any matter, any Member Delegation may move the suspension or the adjournment of the meeting. Such motions shall not be debated, but shall immediately be put to the vote.

Rule 28: Order of Procedural Motions ; Content of Interventions on Such Motions

- (1) Subject to Rule 23, the following motions shall have precedence in the following order over all other proposals or motions before the meeting:
 - (i) tosuspendthemeeting,
 - (ii) toadjournthemeeting,
 - (iii) toadjournthedebateonthequestionunderdiscussion,
 - (iv) toclosethedebateonthequestionunderdiscussion.
- (2) AnyMemberDelegationthathasbeengiv entheflooronaproceduralmotion mayspeakonthatmotiononly,andmaynotspeakonthesubstanceofthematterunder discussion.

Rule29: BasicProposal; ProposalsforAmendment

- (1) (a) DocumentsIAVP/DC/3andIAVP/DC/4shallconstitutethebasisof the discussionsintheConference,andthetextofthedraftInstrumentcontainedinthose documentsshallconstitutethe"BasicProposal."
- (b) Where, for any given provision of the draft Instrument, there are two or three alternatives in the Basic Proposal, consisting of either two or three texts, or one or two texts and an alternative that the reshould be no such provision, the alternative shall be designated with the letters A, Band, where applicable, C, and shall have equal status. Discussions shall take places imultaneously on the alternatives and, if voting is necessary and there is no consensus on which alternative should be put to the vote first, each Member Delegation shall be invited to indicate its preference among the two or three alternatives. The alternative supported by more Member Delegations than the other one or two alternatives shall be put to the vote first.
- (c) WherevertheBasicProposalcontainswordswithinsquarebrackets,onlythe textthatisnotwithinsquarebracketsshallberegardedaspartoftheBasicProposal,whereas wordswithinsquarebracketsshallbetreatedasaproposalforamendmentifpresentedas providedinparagraph (2).
 - (2) AnyMemberDelegationmayproposeamendmentstotheBasicProposal.
- (3) Proposal for amendment shall, a sarule, be submitted in writing and handed to the Secretary of the body concerned. The Secretariats hall distribute copies to the Delegations and the Observer Organizations. As a general rule, a proposal for a mendment cannot be taken into consideration and discussed or put to the vote at a meeting unless copies of it have been distributed not later than three hours before it is taken into consideration. The Presiding

Officermay, however, permitthetaking into consideration and discussion of a proposal for amendment even though copies of it have not been distributed or have been distributed less than three hours before it is taken into consideration.

Rule30: DecisionsontheCompetenceoftheConference

- (1) If aMemberDelegationmovesthatadulysecondedproposalshouldnotbetaken intoconsiderationbytheConferencebecauseitisoutsidethelatter'scompetence,thatmotion shallbedecideduponbytheConference,meetinginPlenary,beforetheproposalistakeninto consideration.
- (2) If the motion referred to in paragraph (1), above, is made in a body other than the Conference, meeting in Plenary, it shall be referred to the Conference, meeting in Plenary, for aruling.

Rule31: WithdrawalofProceduralMotionsandProposalsforAmendment

Anyproceduralmotionandanyproposalforamendmentmaybewithdrawnbythe MemberDelegationthathasmadeit,atanytimebeforevotingonithascommenced, providedthatnoamendmenttoithasbeenproposedbyanotherMemberDelegation. Any motionorproposalthuswithdrawnmaybereintroducedbyanyotherMemberDelegation.

Rule32: ReconsiderationofMattersDecided

When anymatterhasbeendecidedbyabody,itmaynotbereconsideredbythatbody unlesssodecidedbythemajorityapplicableunderRule 34(2)(ii).Inadditiontothe proposer ofthemotiontoreconsider,permissiontospeakonthatmotionshallbegivenonlytoone MemberDelegationsecondingandtwoMemberDelegationsopposingthemotion,after whichthemotionshallimmediatelybeputtothevote.

CHAPTERVI: VOTING

Rule33: RighttoVote

- (1) EachMemberDelegationshallhavetherighttovote. AMemberDelegationshall have onevote, may represent itselfonly and may vote in its name only.
- (2) TheSpecialDe legationhasnorighttovoteand,forthepurposesofparagraph ofthisRuleandRule34 ,theSpecialDelegationisnotcoveredbytheterm"Member Delegations."
- (3) The Special Delegation may, under the authority of the European Community, exercise the rights to vote of the Member States of the European Community which are represented at the Diplomatic Conference, provided that
- $(i) \qquad the Special Delegation shall not exercise the right stovote of the Member States of the European Community if the Member States exercise their right stovote and vice versa, and \\$

(ii) thenumberofvotescastbytheSpecialDelegationshallinnocaseexceedthe numberofMemberStatesoftheEuropeanCommunitythatarerepresentedattheDiplomatic Conferenceandthatarepresentatandentitledtoparticipateinthevote.

<u>Rule34</u>: <u>RequiredMajorities</u>

- (1) Alldecisionsofallbodiesshallbemadeasfaraspossiblebyconsensus.
- (2) Ifitisnotpossibletoattainconsensus,thefollowingdecisionsshallrequirea majorityoftwo-thirdsoftheMemberDelegationspresentandvoting:
 - (i) adoptionbytheConference,meetinginPlenary,oftheseRules,and,once adopted,anyamendmenttothem,
 - (ii) decisionbyanyofthebodiestoreconsider,underRule32,amatterdecided,
 - (iii) adoptionbytheConference,meetinginPlenary,oftheInstrument,

whereas all other decisions of all bodies shall require a simple majority of the Member Delegations present and voting.

(3) "Voting" means casting an affirmative or negative vote gative vote gative

Rule35: RequirementofSeconding; MethodofVoting

- $(1) \quad Any proposal for a mendment made by a Member Delegation shall be put to a vote only if seconded by at least one other Member Delegation.$
- (2) VotingonanyquestionshallbebyshowofhandsunlessaMemberDelegation, secondedbyatleastoneotherMemberDelegation,requestsaroll-call,inwhichcaseitshall bebyroll-call.TherollshallbecalledinthealphabeticalorderofthenamesinFrenchofthe States,beginningwiththeMemberDelegationwhosenameshallhavebeendrawnbylotby thePresidingOfficer.

Rule36: Conduct DuringVoting

- (1) AfterthePresidingOfficerhasannouncedthebeginningofvoting,thevoting shallnotbeinterruptedexceptonapointoforderconcerningtheactualconductofthevoting.
- (2) The Presiding Officer may permit a Member Delegation to explain its vote or its abstention, either before or after the voting.

Rule37: DivisionofProposals

AnyMember Delegationmaymove thatpartsoftheBasicProposalorofanyproposal foramendmentbevoteduponseparately.Iftherequestfordivisionisobjectedto,themotion fordivisionshallbeputtoavote.Inadditiontothe proposerofthemotionfordivision, permissiontospeakonthatmotionshallbegivenonlytooneMemberDelegationseconding

and two Member Delegations opposing it. If the motion for division is carried, all parts of the Basic Proposal or of the proposal for amendment that have been separately approved shall again be put to the vote, together, as a whole. If all operative parts of the Basic Proposal or of the proposal for amendment have been rejected, the Basic Proposal or the proposal for amendment shall be considered rejected as a whole.

<u>Rule38</u>: <u>VotingonProposalsforAmendment</u>

- (1) Anyproposal for a mendment shall be voted upon before the text to which it relates is voted upon.
- (2) Proposalsforamendmentrelatingtothesametextshallbeputtothevoteinthe orderoftheirsubstantiveremotenessfromthesaidtext,themostremotebeingputtothevote firstandtheleastremotebeingputtothevotelast. If, however, the adoption of any proposal foramendment necessarily implies the rejection of any other proposal foramendment or the original text, such other proposal or text shall not be put to the vote.
- $(3) \quad If one or more proposals for a mendment relating to the same text are adopted, the text as a mended shall be put to the vote.$
- (4) Anyproposalthepurposeofwhic histoaddtoordeletefromatextshallbe consideredaproposalforamendment.

Rule39: VotingonProposalsforAmendmentontheSameQuestion

Subject to Rule 38, where two or more proposal srelate to the same question, they shall be put to the vote in the order in which they have been submitted, unless the body concerned decides on a different order.

Rule40: EquallyDividedVotes

- (1) Subjecttoparagraph (2),ifavoteisequallydividedonamatterthatcallsonlyfor asimplemajority,theproposalshallbeconsideredrejected.
- (2) Ifavoteisequallydividedonaproposalforelectingagivenpersontoagiven positionasofficerandthenominationismaintained,thevoteshallberepeated,untileither thatnominationisadoptedorrejectedoranotherpersoniselectedforthepositioninquestion.

CHAPTERVII: LANGUAGES AND MINUTES

Rule41: LanguagesofOralInterventions

- (1) Subject toparagraph (2), or a linter ventions made in the meetings of any of the bodies shall be in Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian or Spanish, and interpretation shall be provided by the Secretariatin to the other five languages.
- (2) AnyoftheCommitteesandanyworkinggroupmay,ifnoneofitsmembers objects,decidetodispensewithinterpretationortolimitinterpretationtosomeonlyofthe languagesthatarereferredtoinparagraph (1).

Rule42: SummaryMinutes

- (1) Provisional summary minutes of the meetings of the Conference, meeting in Plenary, and of the Main Committees shall be drawn up by the International Bureau and shall be made available as soon as possible after the closing of the Conference to all speakers, who shall, within two months after the minutes have been made available, inform the International Bureau of any suggestions for changes in the minutes of their own interventions.
- (2) ThefinalsummaryminutesshallbepublishedinduecoursebytheInternational Bureau.

Rule43: LanguagesofDocumentsandSummaryMinutes

- (1) AnywrittenproposalshallbepresentedtotheSecretariatinAra bic,Chinese, English,French,RussianorSpanish.SuchproposalshallbedistributedbytheSecretariatin Arabic,Chinese,English,French,RussianandSpanish.
- (2) ReportsoftheCommitteesandanyworkinggroupshallbedistributedinArabic, Chinese,English,French,RussianandSpanish.InformationdocumentsoftheSecretariat shallbedistributedinEnglishandFrench ;and,wheneverpracticable,alsoinArabic, Chinese,RussianandSpanish.
- (3) (a) Provisionalsummaryminutesshallbedrawnupinthelanguageusedbythe speakerifthespeakerhasusedEnglish,FrenchorSpanish;ifthespeakerhasusedanother language,theinterventionshallberenderedinEnglishorFrenchatthechoiceofthe InternationalBureau.
- (b) Thefinalsummarymin utesshallbemadeavailableinEnglishandFrench and,wheneverpracticable,alsoinArabic,Chinese,RussianandSpanish.

CHAPTERVIII: OPENANDCLOSEDMEETINGS

Rule44: MeetingsoftheConferenceandoftheMainCommittees

ThemeetingsoftheConfer ence,meetinginPlenary,andoftheMainCommitteesshall beopentothepublicunlesstheConference,meetinginPlenary,ortheinterestedMain Committee,decidesotherwise.

Rule45: MeetingsofOtherCommitteesandofWorkingGroups

Themeetingsofth eCredentialsCommittee,theDraftingCommittee,theSteering CommitteeandanyworkinggroupshallbeopenonlytothemembersoftheCommitteeorthe workinggroupconcernedandtotheSecretariat.

CHAPTERIX: OBSERVERDELEGATIONS AND OBSERVER OR GANIZATIONS

Rule46: Statusof Observers

- (1) ObserverDelegationsmayattend,andmakeoralstatementsin,the Plenary meetingsoftheConferenceandthemeetingsoftheMainCommittees.
- (2) ObserverOrganizationsmayattendthe PlenarymeetingsoftheConferenceand themeetingsoftheMainCommittees.UpontheinvitationofthePresidingOfficer,theymay makeoralstatementsinthosemeetingsonquestionswithinthescopeoftheiractivities.
- (3) WrittenstatementssubmittedbyObserverDelegationsorbyOb server Organizationsonsubjectsforwhichtheyhaveaspecialcompetenceandwhicharerelatedto theworkoftheConferenceshallbedistributedbytheSecretariattotheparticipantsinthe quantitiesandinthelanguagesinwhichthewrittenstatementsweremadeavailabletoit.

CHAPTERX: AMENDMENTSTOTHERULESOFPROCEDURE

Rule47: PossibilityofAmendingtheRulesofProcedure

With the exception of the present Rule, these Rules may be a mended by the Conference, meeting in Plenary.

CHAPTERXI:FINALACT

Rule48: Signingofthe FinalAct

Ifafinalactisadopted, its hall be open for signature by any Delegation.

[Endofdocument]